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Conference Program of Events
The Saskatchewan Association of Architects

SASKATCHEWAN SAVOIR-FAIRE - HOW BUILDINGS EMBODY K NOWLEDGE
A joint event with the Society for the Study of Architecture in Canada (SSAC)
Hotel Saskatchewan - Regina, Saskatchewan

THURSDAY JUNE 2
10:00 am - 4:00 pm SAA Council Meeting
5:30 - 6:30 pm Meet & Greet for Women in the Architectural Profession
7:00 - 8:00 pm Keynote Lecture - Vanessa Kassabian, Snøhetta Architects
8:00 - 10:00 pm Dine Around Downtown Regina
9:00 pm - 1:00 am Hospitality Suite

FRIDAY JUNE 3
8:00 am - 5:00 pm Conference Registration
7:00 am - 5:00 pm Companion Program
7:30 - 8:30 am Breakfast
9:00 - 10:40 am Two Concurrent Plenary Sessions (Joint SAA/SSAC)
10:40 - 11:00 am Refreshment Break
11:00 am - 12:00 pm Two Concurrent Plenary Sessions (Joint SAA/SSAC)
12:30 - 2:00 pm Lunch - sponsorship presentation (30 mins)
2:00 - 3:30 pm Two Concurrent Plenary Sessions (Joint SAA/SSAC)
3:30 - 4:00 pm Refreshment Break
4:00 - 5:30 pm Two Concurrent Plenary Sessions (Joint SAA/SSAC)
5:30 - 8:00 pm Prairie Design Awards, McKenzie Art Gallery
8:30 - 10:00 pm Intern Architect Meet & Greet (location TBA)
8:30 - 10:00 pm RAIC Fellows Dinner (location TBA)
Dinner on your own
9:00 pm - 1:00 am Hospitality Suite
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SATURDAY JUNE 4
8:30 am - 1:30 pm Conference Registration
7:00 am - 5:00 pm Companion Program
8:00 - 9:00 am Breakfast
9:00 - 10:15 am Member Forum Session 1
10:15 - 10:45 am Refreshment Break
10:45 am - 12:00 pm Member Forum Session 2
12:00 - 1:00 pm Lunch
1:00 - 1:30 pm School of Architecture Initiative Update
1:30 - 4:00 pm Saskatchewan Association of Architects Annual General Meeting (SAA AGM)
4:00 - 5:00 pm SAA Council Meeting
6:00 - 7:00 pm Champagne Reception
7:00 - 9:00 pm President’s Dinner
9:00 pm - 1:00 am Hospitality Room
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Annual General Meeting
JUNE 4, 2016
1:30 pm Regency Ballroom
Hotel Saskatchewan - Regina, Saskatchewan

AGENDA
Chairperson: David W. Edwards, President
1. Call to Order
2. President’s Welcome
3. Acceptance of the Agenda
4. Acceptance of the Minutes of the 2015 Annual General Meeting
5. Nominations Committee Report and Introduction of Council Member Nominees
6. Reports
Questions from the members regarding all reports published in the 2015 Annual Report
7. Acceptance of Reports
8. Bylaw Amendments
9. Election of Council Members
10. Vote on Life Member Nominations
11. Appointment of Accountants for the year ending December 31, 2016
12. Other Business
13. Adjournment
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President
DAVID W. EDWARDS
The Saskatchewan Association of Architects (SAA) is a self-governing body responsible to the public to uphold The

people practicing architecture without a licence and everything in between. We also play an advisory role concerning
architecture and the built environment in Saskatchewan. On behalf of our membership Council meets with various
government organizations and others involved in the construction industry to promote the use of architects and the
payment of fees.
The last few years have been good for the profession and we have seen our membership rise to a total of 448
members, 111 of which live in the province. Saskatchewan still has one of the best ratios of resident architects at 100
architects to one million residents, while the national average is closer to 400 architects per million residents. We are
going to experience changes in our community as many of us are at a stage where we will retire soon and there will
need to be more members to undertake the work and support the association. This will require our members to
become involved with committee work as well as serve on council.
out of province registrations (made possible by the profession’s mobility between provinces). New agreements have
made it possible for Canadian architects to work internationally and for internationally trained architects to work here.
We are better suited as a profession to undertake the role of promoting the built environment both from a position of
sustainability as well as livability. There are now more people talking about the built environment and good design
than ever and we, as architects, need to play a central role in that discussion. Members need to become involved with
groups that play the advocacy role within our community.
We can report at the time of writing this report that the development of the school program has proceeded and is on
team headed up by Colin Ripley was engaged to undertake the development of the program. This work includes the
development of a program of study as well as the requirements for housing the school within the university
framework. At this point in time the larger items for consideration are physical home of the school (potentially the
John Deere Plow building) and the development of a program that will allow many entry points for students. During
the SAA AGM/Conference weekend there will be a more detailed report on the development of this project. The
program is developing in a positive fashion and the SAA must now start to undertake fundraising in the industry and
the community. Regardless of the university, the profession will need to step up on this issue and develop a
fundraising strategy. There will also need to be detailed discussions with the government on both funding and
support. I must give special thanks to Paul Blaser who chairs the SAA committee for the school and Bob Burnyeat who
has worked tirelessly on this and many other initiatives as past president this year. Special mention must go the Colin
Tennent and Andrew Wallace who, as members of the association and university employees, have helped drive this
initiative through the complexities of university management.
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In November last year the SAA hosted all the provincial regulators (Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities or
CALA) in Saskatoon. There were two days of meetings: day one included a workshop on the developments from the
validation conference (held the year before) and the development of international agreements; day two consisted of
the CALA administrators and regulators meeting for a half day each.
There are a number of SAA committee’s working on a variety of subjects, as you will read further on in the annual
report. Special thanks to those who work on these committees as they operate in the background with very little
visibility - their work keeps the association moving forward. This year’s conference organizing committee, chaired by
Bernie Flaman, will have an exciting and full program, that includes: Architecture Week, Prairie Design Awards, public
lectures and a full slate of social functions. This year’s conference is being held in conjunction with the Society for the
Study of Architecture in Canada (SSAC). They will hold their conference alongside ours and share much of the program.
It has been a privilege and a pleasure to serve the profession as SAA President for the second time. It is often said that
Your next council will continue to develop and undertake new initiatives for the betterment of the profession.
Janelle and her team, the hard work of council members and the volunteers - THANKS - you have made my term as

track when I fall behind, supports our council and their initiatives, provides leadership to our association and support
for our members which has provided a very successful year for the association.
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Secretary - Treasurer
LYLE WIEBE AND DANIEL R EEVES
Saskatchewan Association of Architects 2016 Operating Budget
Dec 31, 2014
Unaudited

Dec 31, 2015
Audited

2016
Budget

583,865

596,171

622,798

5,460

1,761

550

55,700

13,380

0

Revenues
Annual Dues
Other Membership
Reinstatements & Other Penalties
Investment Earnings

9,939

10,120

0

AGM Revenue

67,016

64,214

95,945

Other Income

17,169

9,406

20,719

739,149

695,052

740,011

Advertising & Promotion

4,220

12,133

5,890

Advocacy

3,428

5,600

124,161

Amortization

23,507

45,532

0

Annual General Meeting

58,636

59,689

71,502

-

2,000

9,007

10,425

13,405

CALA Assessments

10,422

9,451

10,798

CALA Interprovincial Meetings

17,616

12,550

9,218

Council Expense

25,998

32,142

32,014

Member Expenses

8,181

14,407

3,900

Other Expense

2,730

7,735

10,100

Professional Fees

23,564

45,352

18,900

Rent

31,774

33,360

36,419

Scholarships & Awards

22,091

1,643

2,300

1,238

1,142

1,440

Expenditures

Bad Debts
Bank Charges

Utilities
Reconciliation Discrepancies

-

Excess of revenues over expenditures
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0

578,174

659,741

740,011

160,975

35,311

0
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manage funds to meet expenses and also strategically grow reserves. The 2015 operating surplus of $35,311
(member’s equity growth) was transferred to the SAA investment account immediately following the Ernst and Young
operating surplus. Investment income is realized when investments are sold. The SAA did not sell investments in
2015, but on average has realized an ‘Annualized Rate of Return’ of 3.80% since it started the investment in 1999.
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SAA Reserves Fund at December 31, 2015
General Reserves Value

$446,995

School of Arch Levy Restricted Funds

$(71,082)

Total Unrestricted Reserves

$375,913

60% of 2016 budgeted expenses

$444,007
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The 2016 budget was developed to support the ongoing strategic initiatives of SAA Council and meet the
administrative requirements of the association. Council reviews and approves the annual budget each year in
November. By way of the budget, council also sets the schedule for annual fees for the upcoming year.
unexpected loss of revenue. The SAA’s intent is to have 60% of annual expenses in reserves. The SAA is currently at
58% of that goal. Funds available to be awarded for the SAA Bursary Program are not included in the 58%.
The SAA’s investment account is holding $71,082 as School of Architecture Restricted Funds and also holds
$120,000 for the Bursary Program. 2015 did not see a bursary awarded, and so the funds are carried over to the
coming year.
The amount found on the ‘Reinstatements & Other Penalties’ revenue line has dramatically reduced from 2014 as a
manner. 2015 saw what we anticipate to be a normalizing of these potential items, and we anticipate a slow decline
in this number moving forward.
The drop in the budget for ‘Advertising and Promotion’ can be attributed to the completion of the website which went
live this year. The AGM line item is increased over the previous year to address our hosting duties for the 2016
Prairie Design Awards.
The budgeted increase in ‘Council Expense’ is to support: ongoing work with Government, meeting twice annually
with ACEC|SK, meetings between the AAA, AIBC and SAA as well as participation on special committees such as the
Construction Industry Working Group.
‘Member Expenses’ are down from the previous year, due to our EXAC costs for both 2014 and 2015 being settled in
2015. Also, the line for ‘Professional Fees’ in 2015 was elevated due to the development, review and
implementation of the bylaw amendments for Bylaw 12.
The 2016 ‘Council Expense’ line also includes the continuation of an annual council retreat to acclimate new
councillors to their roles and responsibilities, which will be held in August 2016.

11

Executive Director
JANELLE S. UNR AU
Procurement was one of the main underlying themes of the SAA’s 2015 activities. The provincial government’s
creation of SaskBuilds initiated changes to their procurement practices. A branch of SaskBuilds, Priority
Saskatchewan, released a thirteen-point action plan early in the year, aimed at improving government and Crownsector procurement. In response to this plan, the SAA in cooperation with the Saskatchewan Construction Association
Advisory Council, the Saskatchewan Construction Panel, ACEC | SK and many others in industry, has been focused on
we have been participating through Priority Saskatchewan’s industry consultations. Desired outcomes include more
standardized contracts, a local knowledge component to selection, harmonized purchasing practices among all
purchasing ministries and crowns and Quality Based Selection (QBS) as a standard practice. The consultations will
continue in 2016 and we remain hopeful that improved purchasing practices will result.
Additionally, the SAA met with the Ministry of Central Services to discuss their new Consulting Services Procurement
Policy. Currently an interim policy document, it is slated to be harmonized according to the Priority Saskatchewan
that contravened the SAA Bylaws.
We are in on-going dialogue with the Buildings Committee of ACEC | SK as we share common procurement concerns.
As much as possible we try and present a united response to government regarding procurement issues relating to
the design community. Activities around procurement improvement continue as a strategic initiative in 2016.
Council directed the creation of terms of reference for the three standing committees of council: Communications,

The proposed school of architecture was also in the forefront of association activity. Early in the year, the SAA met with
the Honourable Kevin Doherty, then Minister of Advanced Education, and Ernie Barber, Interim Provost University of
Saskatchewan. The University of Saskatchewan made a strong commitment to the school and asked the SAA to
activities in establishing a school. Additionally, three SAA members participate on the steering committee.
The public face of the SAA was improved this past year through the launch of a new website. This completes the
activities related to the SAA identity update.
It was our pleasure to host the fall meeting of the Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities (CALA) in Saskatoon.
The CALA administrators convened in the SAA boardroom. Current topics for this group include implementation of
recent Mutual Recognition Agreements (MRAs), a national guide for IAP supervisors and mentors, updates on CExAC
and an amended Canadian Reciprocity Agreement to ensure consistency of fees for licensure.
The activities highlighted above and many that will be noted in subsequent reports could not occur without dedicated
Schindel. Their commitment to the association is superlative and I express my heart-felt gratitude. As always, it has
been my pleasure to serve you this past year.
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Registrar Report
LYLE WIEBE AND DANIEL R EEVES
2015

2014 2013 2012

2011 2010

2009 2008 2007 2006

Registered Members

448

433

401

353

317

277

239

215

187

175

Resident

111

108

108

105

102

92

87

80

81

79

Non-Resident

337

325

293

248

215

185

152

135

106

96

Associated Members

1

1

2

1

1

5

5

3

4

3

Leave of Absence

1

2

2

2

2

1

2

4

2

2

Non-Practicing (Retired)

12

8

8

8

8

10

9

8

8

9

Life Members

10

8

8

8

8

9

7

8

8

7

Honorary Members

3

3

3

4

4

4

4

4

4

4

Total

475

455

424

376

340

306

266

242

213

200

Firms

253

292

293

244

202

150

149

127

107

103

Student Members

31

41

41

41

35

29

31

29

24
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Membership continued its growth trend in 2015. Registered Architect membership grew 3.5% percent, from 433 to 448.
April Hiebert, Amir Jamal, Nathan Orban, Dragana Perusinovic, Yogalekshmi Subramonian, Jocelyn Tanner, Amy Webb
and Karly Wormworth - all successfully completed the Internship in Architecture Program.
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Membership Trends
Over the past ten years, membership has grown by 152%, from 175 to 448. Resident Architect membership growth
continues to be outpaced by non-resident. In 2006, 45% of Registered Architect members were resident. In 2015,
resident Registered Architect members comprise only 25% of the total membership.
2015

2014 2013 2012

2011 2010

2009 2008 2007 2006

Registered Members

448

433

401

353

317

277

239

215

187

175

Resident

111

108

108

105

102

92

87

80

81

79

25%

25%

27%

30%

32%

33%

36%

37%

43%

45%

Non-Resident

337

325

293

248

215

185

152

135

106

96

75%

75%

73%

70%

68%

67%

64% 63%

57%

55%

Council has continued to work to improve the renewal process for members and Licence to Practice holders. In 2015
the majority of the $509,292 in renewal payments received were paid by cheque and took advantage of the 5%
discount available to members.

outstanding. There was a noticeable increase in inquiries in 2015 to verify fees were received and submitted correctly.
were submitted without paperwork. Licence holders were given a 14-day window within which to submit the missing
holders were automatically struck from the SAA Register for non-payment of fees.

the processes and the forms supplied to members to see if there are ways we can eliminate further potential
oversight. Members are reminded of the importance of the accurate and complete submission of the yearly renewals.

Committee of instances of unlicensed practice.
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Register Update
New SAA Members by Completion of the Internship in Architecture Program
Bertrand Bartake
Danielle Farebrother
April Hiebert
Amir Jamal
Nathan Orban

Dragana Perusinovic
Yogalekshmi Subramonian
Jocelyn Tanner
Amy Webb
Karly Wormworth

New SAA Members
Bruce Bonine
Robert J. Boraks
Christopher P. Brown
Robert Ciccozzi
John E. Christie
Travis Cooke
Derek Crawford
Richard Davignon
Mary-Jean Eastman

David Echaiz-McGrath
Lawrence Esco
Glen Gross
Troy Harper
Todd Hartley
Jurgen Hartloper
J. David Hoglund
Jason Jakubowski
Marin Katov

John E. Kristianson
Andre Kroeger
Eric Lagerberg
Paige Lloyd
W. Peter Maruska
Mark Michasiw
George T. Miers
John Montgomery
Lind S. Nyman

Sidney B. Paul
Lawrence Bradford
Perkins
Jan Pierzchajlo
Preston Potratz
Mark Salopek
Marcus Scoler
Karen Shanski

SAA Members - Reinstated
Patricia Glanville
Timothy Hubbard
Stephen R. Pile

Helio Rodrigues
Paul Tarjan

SAA Members - Change in Status - Leave of Absence
Jyhling Lee
Karly Wormworth

SAA Members - Change in Status - Return from Leave of Absence
Lilia Buza

SAA Members - Change in Status - Member to Retired Member
Roman Bergerman
Lawrence Dressel

Don Greer
Clayton Petrich
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R. Cameron Shantz
Joel Smith
Guela A. Solow-Ruda
Robert M.Swatt
Barry Weih
Ronald V. Wickman
Christopher S. Woollard
Markian Yereniuk
Wendy Yu

New Intern Architects
Miguel Canal Aguirre
Emilian Binzari
Narges Dehghani

Pulak Das
Luke D. Ryalls
Marjan Soheilinia

New Syllabus Student Architects
Jessica Gibson

Licence to Practice - New
John E. Kristianson Architect Ltd.
MMC International Architects Ltd.
ONPA Architects Inc.
Parkin Architects Limited
Perkins Eastman Architects
Partnership

1x1 architecture inc.
ARCCADD Architecture Inc.
Ciccozzi Architecture Inc.
Davignon Martin, Architecture Inc.
Derek Crawford Architect Inc.

Point Architects

GPD Associates, LLC
Integrus Architecture Canada

Ron Wickman Architect
Scoler Lee & Associates
Architects Inc.
Square Root Architecture Ltd.
Swatt Miers Architects, Inc.
Wensley Architecture Ltd.
WZMH Architects

Planners Ltd.

Licence to Practice - Reinstatement
Cushing Terrell Architecture Inc.
h5 architecture
ONPA Architects

Paul Tarjan Architect
Stephen R. Pile Architect Inc.
Village North Architecture UL

Licence to Practice - Readmitted
Layne Arthur Architecture Ltd.

Firm Name Changes
James Siemens Architect Inc. dba* Metaamo Architecture
Mara + Natha Architecture

to

Hughes Condon Marler Architects

to

James Siemens Architect Inc. dba* Oxbow Architecture

Mara + Natha Architecture Ltd.
to

HCMA Architecture + Design

*doing business as (dba)
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The Saskatchewan Association of Architects
2015/2016 COMMITTEE STRUCTURE
Term Expires

COUNCIL:
President 2015/16 ...................................................................................................
1st Vice President ......................................................................................................
2nd Vice President .....................................................................................................
Secretary-Treasurer ....................................................................................................
Past-President .............................................................................................................
Councillor .....................................................................................................................
Councillor .....................................................................................................................
Councillor .....................................................................................................................
Public Appointee ........................................................................................................
Public Appointee ........................................................................................................
Executive Director ......................................................................................................

David W. Edwards, Regina
Ray Gosselin, Regina
Jeanna South, Saskatoon
Lyle Wiebe, Saskatoon
Bob Burnyeat, Saskatoon
Daniel Reeves, Saskatoon
Bernie Flaman, Regina
Paul Koopman, Saskatoon
Ray Mark, Saskatoon
Bruce Sparling, Saskatoon
Janelle Unrau

2017
2018
2019
2016
2016
2018
2017
2017
2017
2016

REPORTS OF THE EXECUTIVE, PRACTICE, EDUCATION, COMMUNICATIONS
AND NOMINATIONS COMMITTEES
Executive Committee

Interprovincial Relations .................................................................................. David W. Edwards
School of Architecture Initiative ..................................................................... David W. Edwards/Bob Burnyeat/
Paul Blaser
Practice Committee ..................................................................................................
Saskatchewan Building & Accessibility Standards Appeals ...................
Saskatchewan Bid Depository Inc. ................................................................
Saskatchewan Construction Association Advisory Panel ........................
Saskatchewan Construction Panel ................................................................
Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee - Regina .....................................
Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee - Saskatoon ..............................
Honourary Corporate Archivist .......................................................................

Ray Gosselin/Jeanna South
Arnold Dobroskay
Bob Burnyeat/Alton Tangedal
Lawrence Carcoana/David W. Edwards
Lawrence Carcoana/David W. Edwards
Raymond Plosker
Don Greer
Frank Korvemaker

Education Committee ..............................................................................................
Internship in Architecture Program ...............................................................
RAIC Syllabus Program .....................................................................................
Senate - University of Regina ..........................................................................
Senate - University of Saskatchewan ............................................................
Saskatchewan Polytechnic - Architectural Technologies .........................

Bernie Flaman
James McEwen
LeeAnn Croft/Lyle Wiebe
Bernie Flaman
Charles Olfert
Justin Wotherspoon
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Communications Committee ................................................................................. Paul Koopman/Daniel Reeves
Design Council .................................................................................................... Craig Cowan
Prairie Design Awards .......................................................................................
RAIC Regional Director ...................................................................................... Michael Cox
Nominations Committee
Past President ..................................................................................................... Bob Burnyeat
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Executive Committees
INTERPROVINCIAL RELATIONS
David W. Edwards
On behalf of all members of the profession your Executive Committee and the Executive Director have participated in
of committees and task forces that work at the direction of the collective. CALA is made up of all eleven jurisdictions
and operates by consensus. This group has dealt with a number of issues over the past year and this report contains a
few of them.

International Relations Committee
The bi-lateral and tri-Lateral agreements between the United States, Mexico and Canada have been working well for a
number of years with both Canadian and American architects travelling between the two countries to work. To my
knowledge no Canadian architect has applied for recognition in Mexico and to date only one American has attempted
to become registered in Mexico, the main issue is language and the ability to communicate.
The International Relations Committee (IRC) has successfully negotiated a mutual recognition agreement with
March 2015. To date, one Australian architect has successfully applied to become registered in Canada. While there
entertain an MRA with. Discussions have just started.
The committee is also working with the European community to develop a mutual recognition agreement that would
allow Canadian architects to practice in the European Union (EU) and visa-versa. An understanding has been reached
whereby a EU architect coming to Canada will have to take a course of study to give them an understanding on scope
of practice in this country, which may not apply to Canadian architects practicing in Europe.
The Federal Government has approved the funding application for this work, which expires in June of 2016. A new
application for funding has been made and we are awaiting approval. This funding will also include money to
undertake a review of the BEFA program. There are many considerations regarding education, experience, scope and
title that need to be worked through; the committee will be arranging several workshops with the regulators to
discuss these items.

Examination for Architects in Canada Committee (CExAC)
national success rate for the 2015 exam was 86.4%, with 650 interns participating in the exam. The committee is
questions need constant updating to stay current with codes and standards of practice.
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This is an ongoing committee that is currently working with both the Canadian Schools of Architecture (CCUSA) and
the board of CACB to complete the review of the validation conference held in September 2014. There were two
rounds of discussion with the CALA regulators on the conditions and procedures for accreditation and the committee
is drafting up a revised set of documents for review by the regulators this spring.
The BEFA program has been operational for two years with approximately 234 applicants; 29 of which have been
licensed in various jurisdictions across Canada. At the start of the program we had committed to undertaking a
review of the program, which will be started later this year.

Internship in Architecture Program (IAP) Task Force
The IAP Task Force developed a “Supervising Architects and Mentors Guidelines” document that was presented to
CALA. At this time the guide is not universally accepted and individual provinces will continue to use their own
guidelines.
Thanks should be given Bob Burnyeat, Ray Gosselin and Janelle Unrau who represented Saskatchewan at these
meetings and read through a pile of reports. You will hear more from them in their reports and if there are questions I
would be happy to try and answer them.

SCHOOL OF ARCHITECTURE INITIATIVE
Colin Ripley, Andrew Wallace, Paul Blaser

Architecture, although much work remains to be done.
Primary Engagement with the University of Saskatchewan
Following the allocation of funding from the University of Saskatchewan to hire a project director, as discussed in last
year’s report, and the allocation of matching funding from the SAA, a formal School of Architecture Steering
Committee was struck, with representatives from the U of S and the SAA. The steering committee developed terms of
reference for the project director position, including a mandate to develop the academic program, build support at
the University of Saskatchewan and co-ordinate with the wider community. Expressed in the mandate is that the

Project Director Hiring Process
The steering committee moved forward towards hiring a project director with an RFP issued in August 2015. In
October, the steering committee selected Colin Ripley and his team. Colin was hired on a two-year consulting
contract as project director. Colin (who has since joined the SAA as a non-practicing member) is a partner in the
Science at Ryerson University. At Ryerson, he was deeply involved with the creation of the professional program in
architecture that achieved accreditation in 2010. Colin is also currently President of the Canadian Architectural
making regular trips to Saskatchewan.
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Program Development Process
A process has been developed by Colin Ripley in collaboration with the steering committee that will see a formal
program proposal submitted to the University of Saskatchewan no later than the end of August 2016. The proposal
will build on work previously done and incorporate considerable consultation in order to present the strongest
possible case to both the university and the provincial government. The proposal will need to:
• Fit appropriately within university policies and norms for academic programs;
• Support the key priorities of the university, including meaningful engagement with Saskatchewan’s Indigenous
population and the university’s key research priorities;
• Support the vision of the SAA for a school of architecture;
• Engage meaningfully with other post-secondary educations in the province, including Saskatchewan Polytechnic;
• Engage meaningfully with the local and provincial communities with a robust program of outreach and inreach;

Consultations
A comprehensive consultation process has been developed and is underway. We have carried out many meetings
and consultations with individuals both inside and outside the university. The steering committee is the primary
consultative group, and is directing the process. In addition, a larger 35-member ‘Working Group’ has been created,
representative of all major stakeholder groups, which will function in an advisory and review capacity. The working
to gather input from Indigenous communities, the university community, the professional community, and the general
public. An open house consultation was held in Regina on February 23. Over 275 people attended these open
houses, and over 100 completed our online survey.
The core questions asked at the consultations were:
• What are the vision, mission and mandate for the School of Architecture?
• How can the new school forge a strong connection to the local and provincial communities, including aboriginal
communities? What forms of outreach, and, even better, in-reach, can the School develop in order to have an
• How can the new school have a strong impact - inside but more importantly outside the classroom - on campus
culture? How can school of architecture researchers collaborate with colleagues? In other words, how can a
• How can we develop a program that meets the needs of multiple potential student communities, from inside
and outside Saskatchewan, coming from high school, Saskatchewan Polytechnic, or transferring from another
degree program (i.e.: engineering or arts)?
• Who, already at the university or in the community, might engage with the program as an educator (while
stressing that we are not looking to cannibalize other programs)?
• What quasi-curricular components should be incorporated in a program: co-op, study abroad, exchanges, designbuild, etc.? This question feeds into questions 2,4 and 5 above, and will inform the all-important 1st question.
• While understanding that research will in the end depend on the faculty, what research area concentrations
should be planned for?
22
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Notice of Intent
The approval of a new program at the University of Saskatchewan involves three stages of approval. The three stages are:
• University Council Approval - University Council represents faculty, and is responsible for academic oversight.
The University Council authorizes the Board of Governors to establish new colleges, schools and departments.

capital expenditures necessary to start the program and provide it with facilities.
• Senate Approval - The U of S Senate provides public oversight over the administration of the university, and
represents graduates, the community and key stakeholders. The senate has the authority to approve, on the
recommendation of the University Council, new colleges, schools and departments.

of Intent (NOI) to the U of S’s Planning and Priorities Committee (PPC). This initial stage is in preparation for the
submission of the program proposal to the Academic Programs Committee of the University Council (one of the
priorities and the general budgetary appropriateness of proposals for new academic programs). The NOI will present
questions required by the university around governance, demand for the program and so on. Although the number of
courses will be proposed (in order to determine a budget), no further information about courses, including their
content, will be developed in this stage. We anticipate submitting this NOI to the PPC in late February or early March,
with PPC reviewing the document on March 23.
In outline, the NOI will propose a school and a program that are constructed around the values of: a sense of place,
the value of collaboration and of community, the importance of making, an entrepreneurial spirit, and a meaningful
engagement with Indigenous ways of knowing. Each school of architecture has its own unique identity. After
exciting identity for a program based in Saskatchewan, and will allow the program to engage with the architectural
community outreach. The program will have substantial co-curricular components, including a co-op component,
will accredit the professional program. It will be structured to allow and encourage multiple pathways into the
program including from high school, other university disciplines, completed degrees in other disciplines,
undergraduate degrees in architecture from other institutions (including international institutions), or College

Proposal
Following the submission of the NOI, and comments from PPC, we will move into the preparation of the full proposal.
We will do this in two phases, similar to design development and contract documents.
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Key Design Issues and Constraints
Not surprisingly, a number of issues have already come up that will need to be resolved in order to make this process
successful.

renovations.
Internal support While the U of S’s administration is strongly supportive of the project, there appears to be some
resistance among faculty (primarily over fear of losing resources). We will need to design a program that shows them

Conclusion
The Saskatchewan School of Architecture Initiative has taken a major step forward this year. University approval may
be obtained before the end of this calendar year, with implementation of the new program to follow.
university, and to consolidate support within industry and the public. It is expected that in order for a school to come
into existence, the profession, industry, private donors, the university and provincial government will all need to
contribute funding. Therefore, a strong case must be made to Government that a school of architecture is in the public
interest - that architecture and architectural education are explicitly about the public good - community building,
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PRACTICE
PRACTICE COMMITTEE
Ray Gosselin and Jeanna South
The work of the Practice Committee is rooted in SAA legislation (The Architects Act, 1996) and regulations (the
Bylaws). The committee’s primary objective is to provide advice and recommendations to council on all matters
including:
• Review of instances of unlicensed practice (entails: response to complainant, investigation, issuance of letters/
instruction, follow up and/or engagement of the Discipline Committee)
• Formulate and issue responses to requests for consultation (ie: Ministry of Government Relations’ proposal for
an Alternative Compliance Model for building standard compliance)
• Review of municipal project reports (Regina and Saskatoon)
• Review of RFPs issued in Saskatchewan to ensure they are written in accordance with The Architects Act, 1996
and SAA Bylaws
• Production of documents for member use:
- SAA Fees, Fines and Charges
- Guidelines for Preparing Practice-Related Questions
- SAA Professional Fees 2015 (Bylaw 21)
- Renewal form update
• Completion and distribution of SAA Practice Bulletin:
• Public Information:
- Discussion with government on the topic of procurement; feedback provided on proposed procurement
guidelines
• Bylaws:
- Implementation of amendments made to Bylaws 12 and 13
- Preparation of 2016 proposed bylaw amendments

What is currently underway over the 2016 SAA year:
• Continued advising of members, non-members, government bodies and the public regarding the practice of
architecture in Saskatchewan
• Continued discussion with the provincial government and construction industry partners on topics of mutual
concern. Currently, this includes on-going discussions about procurement and standardization of contract
documents
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• Continued work on member reference materials and information to support their success in compliance with
names and the legal use of the word “architect” and derivative titles)
• Work on updating the SAA Fee Schedule (in conjunction with SAA Communications Committee)
• Work with SAA’s legal counsel on SAA applications (including the application for temporary licence and
membership under temporary licence)
• Work on regulatory communication to accompany SAA Visual Style Guide
• Work on educating municipalities in regards to the practice of architecture
• Continue to review RFP’s and to address noncompliance
This year’s Practice Committee included: Bob Burnyeat, David W. Edwards, Ray Gosselin and Jeanna South. We would
like to thank Janelle Unrau and Whitney Robson for providing resources and support. Furthermore, we would like to
recognize the invaluable input from various members at large, including Chris Kailing and Bill Kelly.

SASKATCHEWAN BUILDING AND ACCESSIBILITY STANDARDS APPEAL BOARD
Arnold Dobroskay
The Saskatchewan Building and Accessibility Standards (SBAS) Appeal Board continues to hear appeals by building
intent of the Code requirements.
This past term has even resulted in an appeal related to code exemptions of commercial buildings being considered
on very old considerations, which may or may not be as relevant to the requirements of today.
Regulation provides very good provisions for an appeal. The appeal process is a very fast, simple and fair method to
have the arguments heard and a decision made.

Current SBAS Appeal Board Members:
MEMBER

AFFILIATION

Arnold Dobroskay (Chair)

Saskatchewan Association of Architects

Keith Hanson (Vice Chair)

Saskatchewan Home Builders’ Association

Leonard Gendall (Secretary)

Saskatchewan Government Services

Helen Christensen

Interior Designers Association of Saskatchewan

Jake Meyer

Saskatchewan Urban Municipalities Association

Michael Sazynski

Saskatchewan Applied Science Technologists and Technicians
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SASKATCHEWAN BID DEPOSITORY INC.
Bob Burnyeat and Alton Tangedal
The Saskatchewan Bid Depository Incorporated (SBDI) is made up of a group of volunteers from the various
construction associations within the province, which includes two members of the SAA.
The committee met regularly throughout 2014 and concluded the year with their AGM on February 25, 2016.
Their mission statement is as follows:
To promote the use of the SBDI Bid Depository System. The system is a bid collection process, which seeks to provide
fair representation to subcontractors, general contractors and owners.
The SBDI came into existence in 1966 and has been an active part of the construction industry during its lifetime.
However over the last several years it has experienced a steady decline in usage, which has led this organization to
wonder where its future will be. Under the direction of SBDI President, Fraser Sutherland, the committee has been
searching for a way to revitalize and sustain the use of the SBDI system. An analysis of the reasons for the decline has
traced it back to several causes, including general contractor preference not to use the system as well as young
of the SBDI system to the tender process.
The SBDI encourages the SAA membership to explore the SDBI further and take any opportunities to educate
themselves and others in the use of this system to enhance the bidding process and to make sure that they use the

scope without exception.
After many years as chairman of the SBDI Fraser Sutherland has advised that he will be stepping down from this
industry. SAA North representative Bob Burnyeat has also resigned his position and Ted Engel has graciously taken
The SBDI website can be found at: www.sbdi.ca - its use for reference is encouraged.
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MUNICIPAL HERITAGE ADVISORY COMMITTEE - REGINA
Raymond Plosker
As you may or may not be aware, the City of Regina has placed all advisory committees, including the Municipal
Heritage Advisory Committee (MHAC), on hold until they have completed an internal review process that will determine
how these committees may best be structured. This review has been on-going over the past year and therefore the
MHAC has not met. I understand that the internal review process will not be completed until mid-year 2016.
My term expired at the beginning of 2015. I would like to re-evaluate my commitment to the advisory committee
when the city decides what it wants to do; I can advise the SAA at that time. Many of the advisory committee
members’ terms were up for renewal at the beginning of 2015 and some retired their positions at that time or were
contemplating it. In recent years a number of the positions on the Regina MHAC were left vacant. It seems perhaps it
was time for a review of the committee structure and I hope that the outcome will be positive for those who want to
be involved in an advisory role for heritage in our city.
To date, the City of Regina has been very quiet on this and has not advised any of the committee members as to
progress or potential outcome.

MUNICIPAL HERITAGE ADVISORY COMMITTEE - SASKATOON
Don Greer
The Saskatoon Municipal Heritage Advisory Committee (MHAC) consists of seventeen members on which the SAA is
represented by retired architect, Don Greer. The committee met eight times during 2015, at which Mr. Greer was in
attendance at all of the meetings.
The MHAC was involved in several activities in 2015 of which the following are noteworthy:
• Roll-out of the new Heritage Policy and Program Review - As part of the implementation of the new policy and
plan, the city conducted an in-depth evaluation of the estimated 1,500 historic places and sites documented to
value has formed the new Saskatoon Register of Historic Places. The intent of the register is to promote public
awareness, education and appreciation of heritage in Saskatoon.
• Municipal Heritage Designation and Funding - A total of three properties were designated. The properties include:
- 803 9th Avenue North
- 1040 University Drive (Mann House)
- 1919 St. Henry Avenue (Pendygrasse House & residence of retired architect, Obert Friggstad)
MHAC moved that the Montgomery Community Association receive support from Saskatoon City Council for the
designation of the Montgomery neighbourhood as a national historic site.
MHAC supported $337.50 for maintenance work on the Trounce house.
• Northeast Swale Master Plan - Information was provided to and received by MHAC on the cultural and heritage
elements found in the swale. Concern has been voiced over the protection of the Northeast Swale with respect to
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the impact on it by the commuter parkway construction and the future perimeter highway. Additional
information will be presented in 2016.
• Heritage Festival of Saskatoon - The festival titled “Young Saskatoon” was well attended. The MHAC display
featured “Ghost Signs”/exterior wall signing that were documented in 2014.
• Demolition of Farnam Block - Although members of MHAC met with the owners of the building to discuss
potential options, including tax incentives and grants that may be available, subject to heritage designation, the
building was demolished.
• Broadway Theatre - MHAC approved the proposed alterations as proposed by Ms. Victoria Yong-Hing of
Kindrachuk Agrey Architecture.
• 1102 Spadina Crescent - The proposed bylaw, as recommended by MHAC in November 22014, designating
the exterior of 1102 Spadina Crescent was sent to the Provincial Heritage Property Review Board when the
bylaw was opposed at Saskatoon City Council. The review board recommended that the property not be
designated due to the renovations that had been done. Further to that, the Heritage Property Review Board
recommended that the City of Saskatoon undertake a review of its designation process and approval process.
The report also recommended that the City review all development plans against the Standards and Guidelines
for the Conservation of Historic Places in Canada to ensure that the highest principles of heritage conservation
and being observed.
• Doors Open - Doors Open was held on June 7, 2015. Twenty-seven buildings of architectural, historic and
event was considered a success.
• Façade Conservation & Enhancement Grant - A total of 11 applications were approved and processed under
the program. Four of these applications received funding through the program including the Saskatchewan Craft
Council Building on Broadway.
• Sale of Third Avenue Untied Church - This building is listed on the Saskatoon Holding Bylaw and is considered
to be among Saskatoon’s most precious heritage buildings. Heritage designation was deferred when the
building was purchased in 2013. MHAC continues to work with the Heritage and Design Coordinator to help the
developer obtain Municipal Heritage Designation.

HONOURARY CORPORATE ARCHIVIST
Frank Korvemaker
During 2015, work relating to the SAA records donated to the Provincial Archives of Saskatchewan (formerly known
as the Saskatchewan Archives Board) concentrated on three primary activities:
• Scanning selected documents (especially letterhead and business cards)
• Responding to public requests for information relating to Saskatchewan architects
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Since the corporate archivist initiative started in 2013 - the following work has been completed:
2013/14

2015

Cumulative Totals

10

9

19

1351

411

1762

Box Lists & Scanning

72

81

153

SAA Admin

31

3

34

Public Enquiries

50

47

97

TOTAL HOURS

153

131

284

ENQUIRIES & DOCUMENTS
Public Enquiries answered
Selected documents scanned
VOLUNTEER HOURS

Donation of Architectural Records to the Public Archives of Saskatchewan:
During 2014 and 2015, the Public Archives of Saskatchewan (PAS) has acquired selected records from three
registered architects:
TINOS KORTES: SAA # 151 (Registered: 3 Sept. 1950)

Collection Overview: 10 boxes of records and about 60 drawings. The records constitute a sampling of his work,
including: two meters of administrative records, drawings, renderings and photos of his time as an architectural
student at the University of Manitoba. Tinos Kortes worked primarily in Saskatoon from 1950-75, designing
schools, commercial and residential buildings. His portfolio includes the Saskatchewan Teachers Federation
Building (Saskatoon) and St Pius 10th Seminary (now Ogle Hall) on the University of Saskatchewan campus.
WILLEM B.C. DE LINT: SAA # 232 (Registered: 1 July 1964)

Collection Overview: 250 drawings for about 30 projects. Willem de Lint practised in Prince Albert and Regina,
for many years in partnership with Hugh Taylor, and more recently with David W. Edwards. His portfolio includes
four major buildings in Regina: Mackenzie Art Gallery, Plains Health Centre, Roberts Plaza, Trianon Tower and the
Moose Jaw Library and Art Museum Expansion.
MONTGOMERY J. SAMSON: SAA # 292 (Registered: 5 Feb. 1977)

Collection Overview: Four meters textual records and 66 drawings, accompanied by a detailed listing of all
projects. Records cover the period of 1966 - 2010 and include his partnership with Murray Cheetham and
Ramesh Rattan (North Battleford) and The Architects Collaborative (Saskatoon). His portfolio includes:
government buildings, housing projects, Northland Pioneer Lodge (Meadow Lake), La Loche Health Centre,
Northwest Health Centre (Meadow Lake) and other rural and northern community projects.
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Member Business Card Collection:
number of members have submitted copies of their current and past business cards. In addition to the 86 cards on

In Memoriam:
At least two members of the Association passed away during the past two years. Following is a brief tribute to those
members. Members are asked to please forward any obituary or career information relating to recently deceased
members to the corporate archivist for incorporation into the SAA records at the Provincial Archives.
TINOS KORTES: 1926 - 2015

Tinos Kortes was born in Moose Jaw, Saskatchewan and raised in Saskatoon. He was a well known architect who
designed many buildings in Saskatoon, including the Saskatchewan Teachers Federation Building and St Pius 10th
Seminary (now Ogle Hall) on the University of Saskatchewan campus. He was a graduate of the University of
Manitoba. Tinos took great joy in photographing Saskatoon and Saskatchewan settings and was an avid reader. He
took pride in his Hellenic heritage and was a past member of the American Hellenic Educational Progressive
Association Chapter in Saskatoon.
REID PATTISON: 1949 - 2015

Reid W. Pattison was born in Regina, Saskatchewan. He attended the SIAST Architectural Technology program and the
University of Manitoba Architectural Program. Reid completed his architectural training under the RAIC Syllabus
Program. From 1977, Reid worked for McCudden, Goldie and Morley Architects as their chief draftsman, becoming a

Building (Regina), the Greenhouse Gas Technology Centre on the University of Regina Campus, the SIAST Wascana
Campus Consolidation Project (formerly Plains Hospital), the Regina Pioneer Village Housing Project and several
buildings at the Regina Airport. Reid worked internationally providing architectural and technical advisory services to
local architects in Vietnam and Romania.
cannot be better.
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Education
EDUCATION COMMITTEE
Bernie Flaman
Education, and continuing education, enable architects to keep current, master new knowledge and skills, plan for the
future and responsibly meet the role society entrusts to our professionals. The Education Committee is involved in the
• Mandatory Continuing Education Program
• 2015 Bursary Program
• ExAC (IAP/CERB)
• RAIC Syllabus Program

Mandatory Continuing Education Program
Continuing Education (Con Ed) is a mandatory requirement for all registered architects practicing architecture in the
Province of Saskatchewan. It is an important element in the SAA’s status as a self-regulated, professional association.
The Education Committee, on an ongoing basis, reviews educational opportunities for core credits. For the 2015
calendar year, 95 hours of core learning opportunities were reviewed and approved.
June 30, 2014 saw the end of the previous two-year continuing education cycle and the beginning of the next
two-year cycle (July 1, 2014 to June 30, 2016). After analyzing the results of the past cycle, it was decided that the
revisions to the Con Ed Manual with two main goals in mind: one, to more easily access key details of the program
and second, to more closely align the manual with what one sees on the Transcript of Continuing Education Credits
new two-year cycle on July 1, 2016. It is the desire of the committee to begin to identify more on-line opportunities
for core learning credits.
The Education Committee encourages all members to enter learning on the Continuing Education Website in
preparation for the June 30, 2016 deadline, which will be the end of the current two-year learning cycle.

2015 Bursary Program
In order to encourage the growth of a vibrant profession, the SAA Bursary Award Program continued this year. The
program is for graduates of a qualifying architectural degree program. The deadline for submissions was March 1,
2015. The Education Committee chooses bursary recipients annually. Each qualifying recipient receives a bursary
award for $10,000. The bursary award, in the form of a repayable award, is forgiven when the recipient completes
-Saskatchewan. The IAP documents are available on the SAA website.
Since the program began, a total of 18 interns have been awarded bursaries. Of the 18, one was awarded in 2015, to
Mark Woytiuk, who has chosen to defer to 2016, which is consistent with the rules of the program.

32

SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

2015 ANNUAL REPORT

ExAC Program
The SAA administers the Canadian Examination for Architecture (ExAC) once annually. The ExAC is an experienceoutset by a selected group of experienced architects from three founding parties: OAA, OAQ and AAA. These
profession.
Seven SAA Interns sat the 2015 ExAC examinations. There are four sections to the exam and six interns passed all
four sections.

INTERNSHIP IN ARCHITECTURE PROGRAM
Jim McEwen

experience, knowledge and skills, as they work towards registration as full members of the SAA. There are currently
27 individuals enrolled in the program, making ongoing Canadian Experience Record Book (CERB) submissions, 10
from Regina and 17 from Saskatoon. An additional four people are reporting as Syllabus - Part II students.
Ten interns completed the IAP in 2015 and have registered as architects with the SAA.
The IAP relies heavily on the participation of supervising architects, who guide and support the interns on a daily
basis in the working environment, ensuring practical architectural experience is gained in the transition from
education to practice. Mentor architects meet regularly with the interns, to provide guidance related to career
objectives and broader professional issues. Both roles are integral to the IAP process, and participating members are
participants.
To assist interns, supervising architects and mentors in navigating the requirements of the IAP program, the SAA has
created an “FAQ” page to clarify some important details of the program. This page can be found on the “Interns”
page of the Registration & Licensure section of the SAA website.
The Examination for Architects in Canada (ExAC) has remained the preferred examination option among SAA Interns
in 2015, with seven candidates having written some or all of the ExAC this year, and no interns having written the
NCARB exams.
The results for Saskatchewan candidates who wrote the ExAC in November 2015 are as follows:
ExAC

WROTE

PASS

FAIL

Section 1

7

6

1

Section 2

6

6

0

Section 3

6

6

0

Section 4

6

6

0
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RAIC SYLLABUS PROGRAM
LeeAnn Croft and Lyle Wiebe
The mission of the RAIC Syllabus Program is to provide architectural education nationally through practical
experience and courses of study for aspiring and current members of the profession as well as members of the public
with a personal interest in architecture.
The Syllabus Program in Saskatchewan is typically a small but well supported one and in recent years we have seen
approximately six to seven students registered across both the North and South jurisdictions in the province.
The following registrations were seen for 2015 Terms:

RAIC Syllabus, 2015 Term 1, Winter
NAME

CITY

STUDIO

MENTOR

Kenneth MacPherson

Regina

D1

Kurt Dietrich

Aaron Dobroskay

Saskatoon

D1

Victoria Yong-Hing

Duane Johnson

Regina

Registered

-

Ritesh Mistry

Saskatoon

D5

Ted Engel

Jessica Gibson

Regina

D5

Dylan Elliott

Maret Johnson

Saskatoon

Registered

-

Sarah Robertson

Saskatoon

Registered

-

RAIC Syllabus, 2015 Term 1, Fall
NAME

CITY

STUDIO

MENTOR

Kenneth MacPherson

Regina

D2/D3

Bron Nurkowski

Aaron Dobroskay

Saskatoon

D2/D3

Henry Lau

Duane Johnson

Regina

Registered

-

Ritesh Mistry

Saskatoon

D6

Ted Engel

Jessica Gibson

Regina

D6

Kurt Dietrich

Maret Johnson

Saskatoon

Registered

-

Sarah Robertson

Saskatoon

Registered

-

The program continues to evolve at the national level with work being done to advance the delivery of the program
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Virtual Studio
2015 saw the implementation of a pilot program for a virtual studio through Athabasca University for the general
interest stream of the program. It is hoped that this pilot work will allow the program and the studio coordinators to
determine how to integrate virtual students into their regular studio program and investigate the use of good and

New guidelines for advanced standing for Syllabus in both course work and studios are in progress. The revised
four design studios.

National Standards for Thesis Preparation
It has become clear that National Standards on the preparation documents and process for the thesis stage of
Syllabus are required. A document is being drafted that will outline clear expectations for the written and graphic
requirements as well as administrative procedures to receive the Diploma.

Leadership Change
On December 10, 2015, Syllabus coordinators received a communication that David Craddock had resigned as
director of the program. Mr. Craddock served as Volunteer Syllabus Director from 2013 through 2015 and was
instrumental in the Syllabus Renewal Program. Under his direction the Syllabus Program saw a revision of the work
experience manual and design guidelines and began the process of standardizing studio delivery on a national level.
A new Syllabus Director has not yet been appointed at the time of writing.
On February 5, 2016, national coordinators were advised that a full time manager position has been created to
provide technical services to all RAIC members and support to the RAIC Syllabus Program. This new full time
employee will help address the ongoing need of the program, such as continuous improvement of the work
experience, studio guidelines, and the national consistency of quality in studio delivery. The job was expected to be
The Saskatchewan coordinators, Lyle Wiebe and LeeAnn Croft, would like to extend a big thank you to all of those
who participated as mentors and critics in 2015 and would encourage anyone interested in participating in either of
these roles, to contact us for further information.
Members may receive up to ten hours of self-directed Continuing Education credits for their contribution in each
48-month cycle.
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SENATE - UNIVERSITY OF REGINA
Bernie Flaman

meetings were held in 2015: February 7, June 3 and October 16. I was able to attend all three meetings.
Highlights of the February meeting included an update on the U of R’s President’s report. One item that the report
reviews is the Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) function that was established at the U of R in 2006. The university

priority areas. While this budget reality applies to University of Regina, University of Saskatchewan is in a similar
situation. The relevance of this for the SAA is that it may negatively impact the creation of the proposed school of
architecture. The other risk priorities are student recruitment and retention, research growth management, policy
compliance, information technology infrastructure and data security, information technology infrastructure and
fraud. President Timmons reported that recent provincial budget issues have caused budget austerity with restrictions
on travel, hiring and executive wage freezes.
President Timmons spoke of the many positive achievements at University of Regina, which include student success,
highly rated research impact, the high number of international graduate students and the sixth year of enrollment
other countries - the top three being China, Nigeria and Saudi Arabia. President Timons indicated that the recent
growth phase is coming to an end and a period of stabilization will follow. The meeting included a special
presentation entitled “Research at the University of Regina: Innovating Life” by Dr. David Malloy, Vice President
(Research). The theme of collaboration dominated the presentation.
The June meeting focused on further budget discussions and a review of student enrollment. President Timmons
reported that the 21st consecutive balanced budget is being implemented. The number of online courses has been
expanded to 48 for the summer session. Dr. Thomas Chase, Provost and Vice President (Academic) delivered a
presentation entitled “The Operating Grant and Shifting Patterns of Student Demand: Implications for Academic Planning”.
The October meeting included a discussion and tour of the new residence building, which has received the First Nations
name of Kisik. The building was 80% full which was ahead of plan - 60% full was the original target. The fundraising
for the work on the College Avenue Campus is wrapping up. P3Architecture Partnership architects in conjunction with
conservation architect Donald Luxton have begun work on the Darke Hall portion of the project. Dr. David Malloy, Vice
President (Research), delivered a presentation entitled “Tri-Council Funding and Research Clusters Overview”. CIHR
focuses on health research, SSHRC on social science and humanities and NSERC on science and engineering.
The October meeting was just before the federal election. The U of R maintains a non-partisan approach in relation to
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SENATE - UNIVERSITY OF SASKATCHEWAN
Charles Olfert
The University of Saskatchewan (U of S) Senate fall session was held on October 17, 2015. This was the last session
chairing the next Senate Executive Committee meeting on March 24, 2016.
expressed interest in and support for the project while he was the Dean of the College Arts and Sciences.
The business of the senate during the fall session focused on information around university tuition, including a
presentation on how the tuition is set, how it contributes to university revenue and how it compares to other institutions.
policies at the university. A draft sexual assault policy was also presented for review. The main education session
included interactive workshops with representatives from the College of Medicine demonstrating how technology is
being applied in some Saskatchewan locations.
University budgets are balanced and there is generally a positive attitude within the faculty and administration.
The next U of S Senate meeting will be held on April 23, 2016.

SASKATCHEWAN POLYTECHNIC - ARCHITECTURAL TECHNOLOGIES
Justin Wotherspoon
Program Evolution As of July 1, 2015, there was a reorganization of Saskatchewan Polytechnic from a division model
to the school model. The Architectural Technologies Program is now part of the School of Construction at
Saskatchewan Polytechnic.
One of the main initiatives of the program this year was a renewed commitment to establish contact with alumni, in
sustainable/green building design into aspects of the curriculum.

Degree Programs
The program is about to launch a Bachelor Degree in Construction Management. The Architectural Technologies
Program (which includes Building Sciences and Interior Design) will be one of the feeders to the Bachelor of Science
in Construction Management (BScCM).
might serve as a pre-requisite to a university-level masters degree.

Program Intake and Employment
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students complete the program and graduate.
Concerns related to future enrolment have surfaced however, with the program no longer sustaining a wait list. All
work term students are currently employed, however the availability of future work term positions is a cause for
concern due to the recent economic decline in the construction industry.

SAA Assistance
As usual, the program would like to express its appreciation to SAA members who have served as occasional
lecturers, guest critics and advisory committee members. The program values its close connections to both the
architectural profession and the construction industry.

Accreditation
The accreditation granted by the Canadian Technologies Accreditation Board (CTAB) is in place until March 2017. In
the summer of 2015, the accreditation granted to the program by the American Council for Construction Education
(ACCE) was renewed until July 2021.
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Communications
COMMUNICATIONS COMMITTEE
Paul Koopman and Daniel Reeves
Over the past year the Communications Committee has been involved in the following projects and initiatives:
SAA Website:
The new SAA website is now live and has been functioning without major issues since July. The website presents to
the public and our members a fresh and user-friendly interface designed by Herrainco and Christina Weese.
architect.

School of Architecture:
The Communications Committee has been assisting Colin Ripley and the School of Architecture Working Group with
publicity to promote the new school to members and to the general public.

Newsletters:
We have worked towards creating a better newsletter with a clean graphic format with content that is relevant and
responsive to our members. Annette Horvath has been largely responsible for this improved service. The adoption of
the software MailChimp has been helpful in terms of the content review process and distribution.

Fee Schedule:
The Communications Committee has been working on the SAA Fee Schedule. The document is currently with the
Practice Committee for regulatory review.

Future Projects:
The SAA has been discussing an outreach/education program for city and municipal authorities. The goal of this
initiative is to prepare and distribute a communication piece to cities and municipalities on what to consider when
hiring an architect. The content of the document will be to focus on when and why to hire an architect, how to check
distribution of the document may also include school divisions, post-secondary schools and government
departments. The Communications Committee will collaborate with the Practice Committee on this initiative.
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DESIGN COUNCIL OF SASKATCHEWAN
Craig Cowan
The Design Council of Saskatchewan (DCS) is the collective voice of six provincial associations representing design
professionals working in the disciplines of architecture, planning, engineering & geoscience, graphic design, interior
design and landscape architecture.
The DCS was established in 1983 to promote public awareness and understanding of applied design. Hosting Design
design through a speaker series.
The council also recognizes design excellence in Saskatchewan through programs such as the Premier’s Awards of
Excellence in Design. Held in conjunction with Design Week, a jury of design professionals assembles to review
and a gala evening is held where the awards are presented.
Design Week was held in Saskatoon and Regina this year, November 2 - 6. Events included: lecturers by graphic
designer Kate Bingaman-Burt in both Regina and Saskatoon, a lecture by architect Ben Uyeda in Saskatoon and a
The week ended with the Premier’s Awards of Excellence in Design reception, an amazing warehouse party on 1st
Avenue, Saskatoon. The highlight of the awards reception was the presentation of the winners of the Premier’s Design
Awards.

Premier’s Award Winners:
ARCHITECTURE

• Award of Excellence: RBM Architecture Inc., Wolf Willow Co-Housing Development
• Award of Excellence: Stantec Architecture Ltd., All Saints School (Joint-Use Project)
• Award of Merit: Kindrachuk Agrey Architecture, Saskatoon Airport Terminal Building
• Award of Merit: Pattison MGM Architectural Services, Car Rental Facility, Regina International Airport
• Award of Merit: Group2 Architecture Interior Design Inc., Brainsport Retail Renovation
• Honourable Mention: aodbt architecture + interior design, College Park Elementary School
• Honourable Mention: Pattison MGM Architectural Services, Lumsden Elementary
GRAPHIC DESIGN

• Award of Excellence: Christian Jensen Communications Design, Stay in the Game: Injury Prevention Awareness
Campaign - Capital G Communications/Mosaic Potash Colonsay
• Award of Merit: David Melashenko Design + Advertising, CNYC (Core Neighbourhood Youth Co-op) Branding
• Honourable Mention: Christian Jensen Communications Design, Refuel Identity / John G. Diefenbaker
International Airport
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INTERIOR DESIGN
• Award of Excellence: Kindrachuk Agrey Architecture, Project NextUs
• Award of Merit: Kindrachuk Agrey Architecture, Refuel Restaurant & Lounge
• Award of Merit: Stantec Architecture Ltd., The Capitol, Regina SK
• Honourable Mention: Stantec Architecture Ltd., PWC - Price Waterhouse Coopers, Saskatoon Corporate

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

• Award of Excellence: Crosby Hanna & Associates, River Landing Riverfront Phase Two, Saskatoon SK
• Award of Excellence: Stantec Consulting Ltd. / Gordon Forsyth & Associates, South East Park, Saskatoon SK
• Honourable Mention: Meewasin Valley Authority, Meewasin Northeast Swale Master Plan, Saskatoon SK
PLANNING
• Award of Merit: Saskatoon Land, Aspen Ridge Neighbourhood Design
INTERGRATED DESIGN
• Award of Excellence: P3Architecture, Crosby Hanna & Associates, Lorne Beug Visual Artist, Brownlee Beaton
Kreke, Ritenburg & Associates, Associated Engineering, University of Regina Gateway Project
• Award of Merit: Stantec Consulting Ltd., Meewasin South East Trail
• Honourable Mention: aodbt architecture + interior design, CS&P Architects, Robb Kullman Engineering LLP,
MCW Group, Crosby Hanna & Associates, Saskatoon Police Service Headquarters
• Honourable Mention: Kindrachuk Agrey, Edwards Edwards McEwen, WSP, Crosby Hanna & Associates, Daniels
Wingerak, PWA Engineering Ltd, Saskatoon Public Board, Greater Saskatoon Catholic Board, Willowgrove School
& Holy Family Catholic School Joint-use Project
For more information about Design Week and the Design Council of Saskatchewan, please visit www.designcouncil.sk.ca.

PRAIRIE DESIGN AWARDS

Every two years, the Alberta Association of Architects (AAA), Saskatchewan Association of Architects (SAA) and
Manitoba Association of Architects (MAA) celebrate those setting new standards of creativity and skill in architecture,
interior design and landscape architecture with the Prairie Design Awards.
This year, the awards are being hosted by the SAA. The awards reception will be held in conjunction with the 2016
Saskatchewan Association of Architects Conference and the Society for the Study of Architecture Conference being held
in Regina, Saskatchewan. The awards will be presented at a reception at the MacKenzie Art Gallery on June 3, 2016.
More information can be found on the website www.prairiedesignawards.com.
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RAIC REGIONAL DIRECTOR
Michael Cox
Thank you for the opportunity to report on some of the Royal Architectural Institute of Canada (RAIC)’s 2015
accomplishments at the national level. Here are some of the highlights:
RAIC was a member of a coalition of design and heritage organizations and individuals that campaigned for almost a
year to advocate for the relocation of the Memorial to the Victims of Communism. We argued that the Long Term
Vision and Plan for the Parliamentary and Judicial Precinct should guide the development of the site. As a result a
To advance fair procurement and fees, the RAIC joined an alliance of professional associations promoting
departments involved in real property. Public Works and Government Services Canada (PWGSC) turned to the RAIC for
reaction to the procurement process for the Centre Block rehabilitation on Parliament Hill; the RAIC consulted
members and provincial regulatory authorities and conveyed their concerns and suggestions.
RAIC supports practitioners at all stages of their career. 2015 saw the creation of the RAIC Emerging Practitioners
practice. RAIC EP in turn supported the establishment of INTERNetwork, a peer network for Interns in Saskatchewan.
RAIC also supported the Young Critic in Architecture competition designed to nurture a new generation of
architecture writers.
The 2015 Festival of Architecture in Calgary, presented with the Alberta Association of Architects, was a success, with
more than 600 delegates taking in the continuing education sessions, awards ceremony and social functions.
Last fall, the inaugural winner of the Moriyama RAIC International Prize, Li Xiaodong, gave lectures in Toronto and
Montreal, which were well received and can be viewed on YouTube.
New partnerships were forged to expand knowledge and opportunities for Canadian architects: agreements were
signed with the Royal Institute of British Architects, the New Zealand Institute of Architects, the Canada Green Building
Council, the National Capital Commission as well as most of the provincial regulators.

Thanks again. If you are not yet a member of the RAIC, I encourage you to join. If you have any questions, please
contact me at mcox@raic.org.
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Past President
NOMINATIONS COMMITTEE
Bob Burnyeat
The opportunity to serve on SAA Council is both an honor and a duty that all SAA members should strive to achieve
during their career as an architect in Saskatchewan. The strength of the profession depends upon the dedication and
wisdom that our council members bring both to provincial and national issues. Serving on council provides an
opportunity to connect with members of our profession here and across borders and to shape how we as a
profession grow.
Past President. One of the duties that I have as Past President is to work on the Nominations Committee. This year we

job of these roles and for his great assistance in the overlap with Dan.
Our retiring members are both from Saskatoon. Of the remaining councillors, 3 will be from Regina and the remaining
will be from Saskatoon. As such, the requirement of Bylaw 5.01 to have at least two councillors from each of Regina
and Saskatoon will be met.
The SAA is a self-regulating association and therefore is required through The Architect’s Act, 1996 to have a council

The SAA has three nominees who have graciously volunteered to run for the vacant council positions. James Youck,
Laurie Njaa and Ann March have all agreed to let their names stand for the election which will be held at the SAA
AGM in June of this year. At the AGM, each nominee will have an opportunity to provide their credentials and their
Council has also been informed that Bernie Flaman has had to resign from his position as SAA Councillor at the end
of this year. The SAA wishes to thank Bernie for his commitment on council, in particular leading the Education
Committee and as Chairman of the 2016 AGM Committee. Council has elected to appoint Chris Kailing to complete
I wish to thank you for all the support I have had during my tenure as an SAA Councillor and wish the incoming
council all the best in the years to come.
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MINUTES OF THE 2015 ANNUAL
GENERAL MEETING OF THE
SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF
ARCHITECTS
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Saturday, May 9, 2015
Wapiti Room
Elk Ridge Resort, Saskatchewan
MEETING ATTENDEES
Kirk Banadyga
Bertrand Bartake
Roman Bergerman
Lilia Buza
Lawrence Carcoana
Gary Cooper
Bob Croft
Willem de Lint
Tammi Denby
Alan Downing
Allan Duddridge
Curtis Dyck
Dylan Elliott

Theodore (Ted) Engel
Darrel Epp
Phil Evans
Isaac Hayes
Keith Henry
April Hiebert
Bianca Hilbert
Dallas Huard
Jason Hurd
Harry Jedlic
Vanessa Keilback
Patrick Kelly

William (Bill) Kelly
Derek Kindrachuk
Heney Klypak
Kirstin Mahan
Thompson
Grant McKercher
Roger Mitchell
Frank Moore
Wes Moore
Laurie Njaa
Bron Nurkowsky
Charles Olfert
Nathan Orban

Olena Pavlyuk
Brad Pickard
Rory Picklyk
Raymond Plosker
Laura Plosz
Daniel Reeves
John Riddell
Robyn Robertson
Chris Roszell
Ted Rusick
Mark Sin
Troy Smith
Maurice Soulodre

Jeanna South
Roderick Stutt
Alton Tangedal
Colin Tennent
Rob Tomiyama
Andrew Wallace
Amy Webb
Ken Wilson
Karly Wormworth
Justin Wotherspoon
Victoria Yong-Hing

COUNCIL ATTENDEES

Paul Blaser, Bob Burnyeat, David W. Edwards, Bernie Flaman, Paul Koopman , Lyle Wiebe
STAFF ATTENDEES

Janelle Unrau, Annette Horvath, Rhonda Schindel, Whitney Robson
CHAIRPERSON

Bob Burnyeat, President

1. Call to Order
The 2014 Annual General Meeting was called to order at 1:20 PM with 62 resident, voting SAA members in
attendance, including 6 Councilors (as per signatures on the register).

2. President’s Welcome
President Bob Burnyeat welcomed all in attendance and introduced the SAA Council.
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3. Acceptance of the Agenda
MOTION: THAT the agenda of the 2015 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects be
accepted, with the addition of a discussion and presentation of motions regarding the school of architecture being
added under ‘Other Business’.

Moved by: David W. Edwards

Seconded by: Colin Tennant

Carried

4. Acceptance of the Minutes of the 2014 Annual General Meeting
MOTION: THAT the minutes of the 2014 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects
be accepted.

Moved by: Rory Picklyk

Seconded by: Wes Moore

Carried

5. Nominating Committee Report and Introduction of Council Member Nominees
had let their names be put forward for consideration:
Lilia Buza, Ray Gosselin, Ann March, Jeanna South
Ann March was not able to be in attendance of the AGM, however, she did provide written consent to let her name
stand in the election. Ray Gosselin resigned his 1st vice president position from SAA Council on May 1, 2015. He did
so in order to be able to run again this year and potentially continue on to be president in 2016). SAA Council

MOTION: THAT Dan Reeves’ name be added to the ballot for the 2015 SAA Council election.

Moved by: Grant McKercher

Seconded by: Jason Hurd

Carried

6. Reports
As all reports were published in the 2014 Annual Report and circulated to members previous to the AGM, individual
verbal reports were not given. Bob Burnyeat invited Lyle Wiebe, Secretary-Treasurer / Registrar to come forward and

MOTION: TO

Moved by: Lyle Wiebe

Seconded by:

Phil Evans

Discussion / Questions: A question was asked regarding restricted and unrestricted funds, as they relate to the
bursary contributions. It was also asked if this money (from the bursary levy) could be used for something else?
Janelle answered: yes, it could be.
46

any year-end surplus be transferred to reserves.

Carried

Lyle Wiebe indicated that the 2015 operating budget was published in the SAA 2014 Annual Report (page 8).
MOTION: TO adopt the 2015 operating budget of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects.

Moved by: Lyle Wiebe

Seconded by: Phil Evans

Carried

7. Acceptance of Reports
Bob Burnyeat asked if members if they have any questions about the reports published in the 2014 Annual Report.
None were asked.
MOTION: TO accept all reports as printed in the 2014 SAA Annual Report.

Moved by: Bron Nurkowski

Seconded by: Charles Olfert

Carried

8. Bylaw Amendments
The Practice Committee (David W. Edwards and Ray Gosselin) presented the 2015 Proposed Bylaw Amendments.
The proposed bylaw amendments were circulated to membership previous to the AGM and were revised and
approved by Marcus Davies, SAA Legal Counsel.
2015 BYLAW AMENDMENT RATIFICATIONS BY MEMBERS

MOTION: THAT SAA membership ratify Bylaw 26.01.5 and Bylaw 12.05 as printed in the 2014 Annual Report.

Moved by: Bob Burnyeat

Seconded by: Ray Gosselin

Carried

2015 PROPOSED BYLAW AMENDMENTS

MOTION: TO amend all 2015 proposed bylaw amendments as printed in the 2014 Annual Report.

Moved by: David W. Edwards

Seconded by: Ray Gosselin

At this time David W. Edwards and Ray Gosselin walked through the proposed bylaw amendments one by one.
Discussion / Questions: Regarding Bylaw 9.02 - A question was asked to clarify: if SAA members use the title
Regarding Bylaw 13.05 - A question was asked in regards to whether or not the amount of penalties collected at

not written into the bylaws; it is explained in the council policy on renewals.
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Regarding Bylaw 21 - A member inquired as to why the wording changed from ‘recommended’ to ‘suggested’. Answer:

period (which is current practice).
A member inquired as to what a person should do if their licence is cancelled? The response: they would need to
notify all clients. Does this put projects in jeopardy? The answer: renew on time and this isn’t a worry.
It was decided the discussion on this item would be tabled until later on.
MOTION: TO table the proposed amendment to Bylaw 26.09 until later today.

Moved by: Roger Mitchell

Seconded by: Willem de Lint

Carried

There was a request from a member to count the number of votes: 41 for, 11 against.

practice of architecture is in The Architects Act, 1996. It was asked by a member if the SAA would write a practice
bulletin further explaining this. This is in the works.
Regarding 32.01 - A member suggested that ‘the committee’ should read: ‘the Professional Conduct Committee’.
MOTION: TO amend ‘the committee’ in Bylaw 32.01 to read ‘The Professional Conduct Committee’.

Moved by: Kristin Mahan Thompson

Seconded: Isaac Hayes

Carried

It was asked by a member if council policies could be written regarding Bylaw 9.02 and Bylaw 12.02, to clarify what is
required. This was agreed to.
MOTION: TO amend all 2015 proposed bylaw amendments as printed in the 2014 Annual Report, excluding Bylaw
26.09 and including the friendly amendment to Bylaw 32.01.

Moved by: David W. Edwards

Seconded by: Ray Gosselin

Carried

9. Election of Council Members
MOTION: THAT nominations for SAA Council cease.

Moved by: David W. Edwards

Seconded by: Roger Mitchell

Carried

not present to speak. At this time Lilia Buza withdrew her name from the election.
This year the SAA also had two individuals that Council nominated to become life members of the Saskatchewan Association
of Architects: Bob Ellard and Obert Friggstad. Their nominations are on page 47 of the SAA Annual Report. Council asked
membership to vote in favour OR against Council’s nomination for these individual’s to be awarded life membership.
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APPOINTMENT OF SCRUTINEERS

ANNOUNCEMENT OF ELECTION RESULTS

Congratulations to new Councilors:

Ray Gosselin, Dan Reeves, Jeanna South
Congratulations to the new life members:

Bob Ellard, Obert Friggstad
MOTION: THAT the ballots of the 2015 Council election and life member nominations be destroyed.

Moved by: Willem de Lint

Seconded by: Derek Kindrachuk

Carried

10. Appointment of Accountants for the Year Ending December 31, 2015
MOTION: THAT
December 31, 2015.

Moved by: Willem de Lint

Seconded by: Lyle Wiebe

Carried

11. Other Business
As discussed at the Bear Pit session earlier in the day, the SAA membership would like to vote on the following
motions relating to the funding of the school of architecture.
MOTION: THAT the Saskatchewan Association of Architects support a Saskatchewan school of architecture and

from $120,000 to $267,500.
Moved by: Bernie Flaman

Seconded by: Paul Blaser

Carried

MOTION: THAT the bursary levy of $135 be suspended for three years and an architecture school levy not to exceed
$170 per year be implemented for the next three years. The current bursary funds already collected by the
association of approximately $120,000 will continue to be awarded.

Moved by: Bernie Flaman

Seconded by: Paul Blaser

Carried
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Further work was done to Bylaw 26.09 and Council members Paul Blaser and David W. Edwards bring forward the
following motion.
MOTION: THAT Bylaw 26.09 read as follows:

determined by Council.
Moved by: Paul Blaser

Seconded by: David W. Edwards

Carried

12. Announcements
Plan to attend next year’s AGM: June 2 - 4, 2016 Hotel Saskatchewan Regina, SK

13. Adjournment
MOTION: THAT the 2015 Annual General Meeting of the Saskatchewan Association of Architects be adjourned.

Moved by: Derek Kindrachuk
The 2015 SAA AGM was adjourned at 3:48 PM.
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Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
Original Text

Approved by Membership at 2014 AGM

Approved by Ministry of Central Services

Bylaw 12.01

Bylaw 12.01

Bylaw 12.01

A corporation shall only be granted a licence
to practice architecture and shall only retain
such licence where:

A corporation shall only be granted a licence
to practice architecture and shall only retain
such licence where:

A corporation shall only be granted a licence
to practice architecture and shall only retain
such licence where:

…

…

…

.5 one of the directors must be a member of
the Association.

.5 one of the directors must be a member of
the Association.
of the architectural corporation must be

.5 one of the directors must be a member of
the Association.
of the architectural corporation must be

Original Text

Approved by Membership at 2014 AGM

Approved by Ministry of Central Services

Bylaw 12.05

Bylaw 12.05

Bylaw 12.05

Where a corporation is but a partner in a

Where a corporation is but a partner in a

Where a corporation is but a partner in a

individuals, the provisions of this bylaw shall
apply to such corporations.

individuals, The provisions of this bylaw shall
apply where an architectural corporation
holds a Licence to Practice, as per council
policy. to such corporations.

individuals, The provisions of this bylaw shall
apply where an architectural corporation
holds a Licence to Practice. as per council
policy. to such corporations.

2015 SAA Bylaw Amendments
Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 9.02

Bylaw 9.02

An individual member other than a licensed architect is entitled to:

An individual member other than a licensed architect is entitled to:

.1 attend general meetings and to vote thereat;
.2 receive the newsletters published by the Association;
.3 receive such information as the council may from time to time direct;

.1 attend general meetings and to vote thereat;
.2 receive the newsletters published by the Association;
.3 receive such information as the council may from time to time direct;

under the Act, regulations and bylaws;
.5 use the name “architect” and “registered architect” after his/her
name.

under the Act, regulations and bylaws;
.5 use the name “architect” and “registered architect” after his/her name
and shall use the designation “SAA”

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 12.02

Bylaw 12.02

proposed alterations or amendments to its incorporating documents
or bylaws or to its corporate structure, including any unanimous
shareholder agreement pertaining thereto, and shall obtain the

and all proposed alterations or amendments to its incorporating
documents or bylaws or to its corporate structure, including any
unanimous shareholder agreement pertaining thereto, and. Where the
amendments result in a change to the control of the corporation,
the architectural corporation shall obtain the approval of council
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Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 13.05

Bylaw 13.05

and until the following conditions are met:

and until the following conditions are met:

schedule of fees to these Bylaws.

schedule of fees to these Bylaws.

February next following the year of the return, the following information:

February
return, the following information:

If no changes have been made to this information in the preceding

1st day of
next following the year of the

If no changes have been made to this information in the preceding year,

retains the right to request and review these documents if deemed
necessary by council.

the right to request and review these documents if deemed necessary
by council.

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 21

Bylaw 21

As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees
to be charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended,
according to the records of the architect. It is recommended that
the charges shall be at a rate of not less than $161 per hour, plus
approximately 5% per full year of the architect’s post-registration
experience, to a maximum of $240, with the hourly rate to be
indexed to the consumer price index for the personal service of the
architect plus disbursements and salaried costs at 3.0 times the
payroll. “Payroll” shall include the salary of the architect’s personnel
engaged on the project, plus the architect’s cost of mandatory and

As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees to be
charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended, according
to the records of the architect. It is suggested recommended that the
baseline rate for such charges as of February 1, 2015 shall be not
less than $163 per hour, charges shall be at a rate of not less than
$161 per hour, plus approximately 5% per full year of the architect’s
post-registration experience, to a maximum of $240 $243. It is
understood that this hourly rate shall be indexed to the Statistics
Canada Consumer Price Index for Saskatchewan for each calendar
year with the hourly rate to be indexed to the consumer price index for
the personal service of the architect plus disbursements and salaried
costs at 3.0 times the payroll. It is further understood that annual
indexing adjustments shall be implemented on February 1 of the
year following, or as soon as is practically possible. “Payroll” shall
include the salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project,
plus the architect’s cost of mandatory and customary contributions

all contributions made with respect to Workers’ Compensation,
and shall include sick leave, holidays, vacations, pensions and the like.
“Disbursements” shall include the design and general review of all
engineering services including structural, mechanical, electrical and the
like.
Where an architect is consulted with regard to matters of which he/she
has special knowledge and experience the recommended rate for such
consultation is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.

respect to Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada
holidays, vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall
include the design and general review of all engineering services
including structural, mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an
architect is consulted with regard to matters of which he/she has special
knowledge and experience the suggested recommended rate for such
consultation is 1.25 times the calculated fee rate.
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2015 SAA Bylaw Amendments (Continued)
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
Existing

Amendment

26.09

26.09

shall annually pay the fees set forth in the Schedule of Fees of the
Association by the 1st day of February or the member, associated

shall annually pay the fees set forth in the Schedule of Fees of the
Association Appendix A of the SAA Bylaws by the 1st day of February
or the member, associated member,

struck from the register for non-payment of fees.

the register for non-payment of fees after a grace period determined by
Council.

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 26.11

Bylaw 26.11
Application for reinstatement as a member, associated member,
or retired member; or application for reinstatement of licence for
a
and licensure applications. A person
whose
registration or licence is cancelled by virtue of non-payment of fees or
other sums in arrears may be reinstated by applying in writing to the
Council. The application shall be accompanied by the unpaid amounts
that caused the cancellation of membership or licence, plus any penalty
prescribed by the Council.

or corporation, shall bear the same fee as initial registration. A person
whose registration is cancelled by virtue of non-payment of fees or
other sums in arrears may be reinstated by applying in writing to the
council. The application shall be accompanied by the unpaid amounts
that caused the cancellation of membership or licence, plus a penalty
prescribed by the council.

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 26.14

Bylaw 26.14

ADDITION

and/or licensure prior to engaging in the practice of architecture or otherwise providing architectural services
application, they shall be subject to a Delinquent Application Fee as established by Council and detailed in
Appendix A of these Bylaws.

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 31.01

Bylaw 31.01

Participation in a manner, and to the extent prescribed by Council,
continuing education program shall be a requirement to maintain
active registration status for the following categories of membership in
the Association:

Participation in a manner, and to the extent prescribed by Council,
continuing education program shall be a requirement to maintain active
registration status for the following categories of membership in the
Association:

.1 registered architect;
.2 individuals who are licensed to practice architecture under Bylaw
26.01.

.1 registered architect;
.2 practicing, life member
.3 individuals who are licensed to practice architecture under Bylaw
26.01. member under temporary licence
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Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 32

Bylaw 32

ADDITION

32.01 The Professional Conduct Committee shall notify, in writing, the member who is the subject of a report or
allegation that a report or allegation has been received, and shall ask the member for a written response prior to
the committee’s report being considered for submission to the Discipline Committee.
32.02 The committee shall notify, in writing, the person who made the report or allegation that the report will be
reviewed.
32.03 The committee shall take appropriate action including:
.1 request any person to answer any questions and to produce any records, notes, photographs, drawings,
papers or other documents in the person’s possession or under their control that are or may be relevant to the
report or conduct being investigated; and
.2 with the consent of the person producing them, copy and keep copies of any of the documents or things that
are produced under clause 32.03.1.

undesirable professional practice on the part of the member, the Professional Conduct Committee may issue a
member’s professional practice.

alternate, low-level resolution of the matter, including the negotiation of a Consensual Resolution Agreement (CRA)
with the member. The CRA may include such terms and conditions of licensure as the Committee deems appropriate.
32.07 Entering into a CRA with the Professional Conduct Committee shall not be considered discipline against
the member, however failure by the member to comply with the terms and conditions of the CRA may result in the
matter being referred to the Discipline Committee.

Existing

Amendment

Appendix A

Appendix A

.7 Reinstatement fees:
after suspension for non-payment of fees: membership
$250.00;
after suspension or expulsion under s. 37 of the Act:
membership $550.00;

.7 Reinstatement fees:
after suspension for non-payment of fees: membership
$250.00;
after suspension or expulsion under s. 37 of the Act:
membership $550.00;
VII. Delinquent Application Fee
.1 Delinquent Registered Member Fee $1000 + Member
Application Fee
.2 Delinquent Firm Fee $1000 + Firm Application Fee
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
To the Members of
Saskatchewan Association of Architects
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Saskatchewan Association of Architects, which
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2015, and the statements of operations,
changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors' Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that
we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the management's preparation and
fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the management's
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation
of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Saskatchewan Association of Architects as at December 31, 2015, and the results of its operations and its
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations.
Other Matter
The statement of financial position as at December 31, 2014, and the statements of operations, changes in
net assets and cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2014, are unaudited.

SASKATOON, SASKATCHEWAN
March 9, 2016
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2015

ASSETS
Current assets
Cash
Short-term investments - unrestricted (Note 3)
Short-term investments - internally restricted (Note 3)
Accounts receivable
GST receivable
Long-term investments - unrestricted (Note 4)
Capital assets (Note 5)

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Notes 5 & 6)
Deferred contributions (Note 7)
GST payable

2015

(unaudited see Note 11)
2014

$ 132,434
196,251
71,082
2,315
402,082
180,206
157,308

$ 206,952
190,257
68,200
2,210
11,411
479,030
176,079
198,532

$ 739,596

$ 853,641

$

79,204
71,082
5,496
155,782

$ 236,938
68,200
305,138

157,308
426,506
583,814

198,532
349,971
548,503

$ 739,596

$ 853,641

Commitments (Note 8)
NET ASSETS
Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted net assets

See accompanying notes
Approved by the Board
President

Secretary Treasurer
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

Revenue
Annual dues
Annual general meeting ("AGM") income
Reinstatements and other penalties
Other income
Investment income (Note 9)
Other membership

2015

(unaudited see Note 11)
2014

$ 596,171
64,214
13,380
9,406
10,120
1,761
695,052

$ 583,865
67,016
55,700
17,169
9,939
5,460
739,149

12,133
5,600
45,532
59,689
2,000
10,425
9,451
12,550
32,142
14,407
23,689
7,735
45,352
33,360
342,891
1,643
1,142
659,741

4,220
3,428
23,507
58,636
9,007
10,422
17,616
25,998
8,181
27,777
2,730
23,564
31,774
307,985
22,091
1,238
578,174

35,311

$ 160,975

Expenses
Advertising and promotion
Advocacy
Amortization
AGM
Bad debts
Bank charges
Canadian Architectural Licensing Authorities ("CALA") assessments
CALA interprovincial meeting
Council
Member
Office
Other
Professional fees
Rent
Salaries and employee benefits
Scholarships and awards
Utilities

Excess of revenue over expenses

$

See accompanying notes
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See accompanying notes

Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted

Invested in capital assets
Unrestricted

2,536
384,992

$ 387,528

$

35,311

35,311

160,975
$ 160,975

$

Excess of
revenue over
expenses

$

$ 548,503

Balance,
beginning of
year

$

Excess of
revenue over
expenses

$ 198,532
349,971

Balance,
beginning of
year

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

-

4,308
(4,308)

$

-

$ 219,503
(219,503)

Purchase of
capital assets

$

$

Purchase of
capital assets

SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS

$

$

$ 583,814

$ 157,308
426,506

Balance, end
of year

-

(23,507)
23,507

$ 548,503

$ 198,532
349,971

Balance, end
of year

(unaudited - see Note 11)
2014

-

(45,532)
45,532

Amortization

$

$

Amortization

2015

SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2015

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities
Excess of revenue over expenses
Items not affecting cash
Amortization
Unrealized gain on investments
Net change in non-cash working capital items:
Accounts receivable
Inventory
Prepaid expenses
GST receivable
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Deferred contributions
GST payable

$

2015

(unaudited see Note 11)
2014

35,311

$ 160,975

45,532
(3,369)

23,507
(2,893)

(105)
11,411
47,122
2,882
5,496
144,280

(1,579)
200
1,160
(11,411)
(20,110)
149,849

(204,857)
(4,308)
(9,633)
(218,798)

204,857
(219,503)
(104,211)
(118,857)

Net (decrease) increase in cash during the year

(74,518)

30,992

Cash, beginning of year

206,952

175,960

$ 132,434

$ 206,952

Cash flows from (used in) investing activities
(Decrease) increase in accounts payable and accrued liabilities due to
capital asset purchases
Purchase of capital assets
Purchase of investments

Cash, end of year
See accompanying notes
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2015
1.

Nature of organization
Saskatchewan Association of Architects (the "Association") operates under the guidelines of The
Architects Act, 1996 and is mandated to ensure the protection of the public interest and to regulate
and advance the profession of architecture in the province of Saskatchewan. The Association
qualifies as a tax exempt entity from income taxes under section 149 of the Income Tax Act.

2.

Significant accounting policies
These financial statements are prepared in accordance with Part III of the Chartered Professional
Accountants of Canada ("CPA") Handbook - Accounting Standards for Not-for-Profit
Organizations, which sets out generally accepted accounting principles for not-for-profit
organizations in Canada and includes the significant accounting policies summarized below.
Financial instruments
Equity instruments quoted in an active market are recorded at fair value. Fixed income
instruments are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently recorded at amortized cost.
Transactions are recorded on a trade date basis and transaction costs are expensed as
incurred.
Other financial instruments, including cash, accounts receivable, GST receivable and accounts
payable and accrued liabilities are initially recorded at their fair value and are subsequently
measured at amortized cost, net of any provisions for impairment.
Capital assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost, less accumulated amortization. The Association provides for
amortization using the following methods at rates designed to amortize the cost of the capital assets
over their estimated useful lives. The annual amortization rates and methods are as follows:
Equipment
Leasehold improvements

20% - 55% Declining balance
Lease term Straight-line

Revenue recognition
The Association follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.
Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable when the amount
to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Annual dues are set by the Council and are recognized as revenue over the period to which they
relate.
Annual general meeting revenue is recognized when the event is held.
Other income and other membership revenues are recognized in the period earned.
Investment income, which consists of interest and mutual fund distributions and realized and
unrealized gains and losses, is recorded in the statement of operations when earned.
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2015
2.

Significant accounting policies (continued)
Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for notfor-profit organizations requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. By their nature, these estimates are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The effect of changes in such estimates on the financial
statements in future periods could be significant.

3.

Short-term investments
Short-term investments - unrestricted

Money market funds
Guaranteed investment certificates
Mutual funds

2015

(unaudited see Note 11)
2014

$ 115,501
28,075
52,675

$ 113,648
27,045
49,564

$ 196,251

$ 190,257

The guaranteed investment certificate matures within the next fiscal year and bears interest at
2.81%.
Short-term investments - internally restricted
Restricted short-term investments consist of money market funds.
4.

Long-term investments - unrestricted
Long-term investments consist of guaranteed investment certificates that mature in more than one
year and have a weighted average interest rate of 2.47%.
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2015
5.

Capital assets

Cost
Equipment
Leasehold improvements

$

Accumulated
amortization

2015

(unaudited see Note 11)
2014

Net book
value

Net book
value

61,184
195,644

$

40,931
58,589

$

20,253
137,055

$ 256,828

$

99,520

$ 157,308

$

22,925
175,607

$ 198,532

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $795 (2014 - $204,857) of capital asset
purchases.
6.

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $15,150 (2014 - $6,031) of government
remittances payable.

7.

Deferred contributions
Deferred contributions primarily consists of contributions that were received for the purpose of
establishing a school of architecture at the University of Saskatchewan in future years. These
amounts were unexpended at year end.

2015

(unaudited see Note 11)
2014

Balance, beginning of year
Amounts received during the year
Amounts recognized as revenue during the year

$

68,200
2,882
-

$

68,200
-

Balance, end of year

$

71,082

$

68,200
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SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2015
8.

Commitments
The Association has committed to support activities undertaken to progress the development of the
proposed school of architecture at the University of Saskatchewan in the amount of $267,500. The
terms of reference related to this commitment are currently under negotiation.
The Association is committed to the following future minimum annual office lease payments:
2016
2017
2018

9.

$

36,162
37,422
37,422

Investment income

2015
Interest
Mutual fund distributions
Unrealized gains on investments

10.

(unaudited see Note 11)
2014

$

2,595
4,156
3,369

$

3,840
3,206
2,893

$

10,120

$

9,939

Financial instruments
Credit risk
The Association is exposed to credit risk in connection with its accounts receivable and its
investments due to the risk that one party to the financial instrument may cause a financial loss for
other party by failing to discharge an obligation.
Liquidity risk
The Association is exposed to the risk that it will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations
associated with its financial liabilities and commitments.
Interest rate risk
The Association is exposed to interest rate risk with respect to its investments in fixed income
investments and money market and mutual funds that hold fixed income securities.
Price risk
The Association is exposed to price risk through changes in market prices (other than changes
arising from interest rate) in connection with its investments in mutual funds.

66

SASKATCHEWAN ASSOCIATION OF ARCHITECTS
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2015
11.

Comparative figures
Financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, were not audited and are presented for
comparative purposes only.
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2016 SAA BYLAW AMENDMENTS
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Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
A

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW - Amendments come into force immediately upon being passed by SAA Council and membership.

R

REGULATORY BYLAW - Amendments come into force once they have been received and accepted by the Minister of Central

A

Services and published in The Saskatchewan Gazette.

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Appendix A

Appendix A

I. Application Fee

I. Application Fee

.1 Registered Member $250.00
.2 Intern Architect Member $50.00
.3 Associate Member $50.00
.4 Firm $250.00
.5 Temporary Licence $300.00
.6 Readmission fees:
after an absence of less than four years $250.00
after an absence of four years or more $550.00
.7 Reinstatement fees:
after suspension for non-payment of fees:
Member $250.00; Firm $300.00
after suspension or expulsion under Section 37 of
the Act: Member $550.00; Firm $600.00

.1 Registered Member $250.00 $300.00
.2 Intern Architect Member $50.00
.3 Associate Member $50.00
.4 Firm $250.00 $300.00
.5 Temporary Licence $300.00
.6 Readmission fees:
after an absence of less than four years $250.00 $300.00
after an absence of four years or more $550.00
.7 Reinstatement fees:
after suspension for non-payment of fees:
Member $250.00 $300.00; Firm $300.00
after suspension or expulsion under Section 37 of the Act:
Member $550.00; Firm $600.00

2016 SAA Bylaw Amendments
A

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 7.01

Bylaw 7.01

The Past-president shall nominate at the annual general meeting the
council members. Further nominations may be received at such meeting

The Past-president shall nominate at the annual general meeting the
necessary number of members, plus one,
council members. Further nominations may be received at such meeting

verbal assent at the general meeting express his/her consent to let his/
her name stand.

verbal assent at the general meeting express his/her consent to let his/
her name stand.
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2016 SAA Bylaw Amendments (Continued)
Strikethrough = Deletion
Bold = Addition
A

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW - Amendments come into force immediately upon being passed by SAA Council and membership.

R

REGULATORY BYLAW - Amendments come into force once they have been received and accepted by the Minister of Central

A

Services and published in The Saskatchewan Gazette.

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 8.02

Bylaw 8.02

The Secretary-Treasurer shall be the Registrar of the Association and
will oversee the Executive Director. The Executive Director shall be
responsible to ensure the taking and keeping of the minutes of the
meetings of the Association and of the council, in English, and to
conduct the correspondence of the Association under direction of the
council.

The Secretary-Treasurer shall may be the Registrar of the Association
and will oversee the Executive Director. The Executive Director shall
be responsible to ensure the taking and keeping of the minutes of
the meetings of the Association and of the council, in English, and to
conduct the correspondence of the Association under direction of the
council.

R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 13.01

Bylaw 13.01

An architectural corporation, partnership of architectural corporations,
partnership or registered member that holds a Licence to Practice may
engage in the practice of architecture in Saskatchewan.

An architectural corporation, partnership of architectural corporations,
partnership or registered member that holds a Licence to Practice may
engage in the practice of architecture in Saskatchewan.
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R

REGULATORY BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Bylaw 21

Bylaw 21

As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees
to be charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended,
according to the records of the architect. It is suggested that the
baseline rate for such charges as of February 1, 2015 shall be not
less than $163 per hour, plus approximately 5% per full year of the
architect’s post-registration experience, to a maximum of $243. It
is understood that this hourly rate shall be indexed to the Statistics
Canada Consumer Price Index for Saskatchewan for each calendar year
for the personal service of the architect plus disbursements and salaried
costs at 3.0 times the payroll. It is further understood that annual
indexing adjustments shall be implemented on February 1 of the year
following, or as soon as is practically possible. “Payroll” shall include
the salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, plus the

As an alternative to the percentage of the cost of the work, the fees
to be charged shall be based on the time and expenses expended,
according to the records of the architect. It is suggested that the
baseline rate for such charges as of February 1, 2015 2016 shall be
not less than $163 $167 per hour, plus approximately 5% per full
year of the architect’s post-registration experience, to a maximum of
$243 $258. It is understood that this hourly rate shall be indexed to
the Statistics Canada Consumer Price Index for Saskatchewan for each
calendar year for the personal service of the architect plus disbursements
and salaried costs at 3.0 times the payroll. It is further understood that
annual indexing adjustments shall be implemented on February 1 of the
year following, or as soon as is practically possible. “Payroll” shall include
the salary of the architect’s personnel engaged on the project, plus the

related thereto, which include all contributions made with respect to
Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada Pension

related thereto, which include all contributions made with respect to
Workers’ Compensation, Employment Insurance, Canada Pension

vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall include
the design and general review of all engineering services including
structural, mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an architect
is consulted with regard to matters of which he/she has special
knowledge and experience the suggested rate for such consultation is
1.25 times the calculated fee rate.

vacations, pensions and the like. “Disbursements” shall include the
design and general review of all engineering services including structural,
mechanical, electrical and the like. Where an architect is consulted
with regard to matters of which he/she has special knowledge and
experience the suggested rate for such consultation is 1.25 times the
calculated fee rate.

A

ADMINISTRATIVE BYLAW

Existing

Amendment

Appendix A

Appendix A

I. Application Fee

I. Application Fee

.1 Registered Member $300.00
.2 Intern Architect Member $50.00
.3 Associate Member $50.00
.4 Firm $300.00
.5 Temporary Licence $300.00
.6 Readmission fees:
after an absence of less than four years $300.00
after an absence of four years or more $550.00
.7 Reinstatement fees:
after suspension for non-payment of fees:
Member $300.00; Firm $300.00
after suspension or expulsion under Section 37 of the Act:
Member $550.00; Firm $600.00

.1 Registered Member $300.00
.2 Intern Architect Member $50.00
.3 Associate Member $50.00
.4 Firm $300.00
.5 Temporary Licence $300.00
.6 Member in conjunction with Temporary Licence $300
.6 .7 Readmission fees:
after an absence of less than four years $300.00
after an absence of four years or more $550.00
.7 .8 Reinstatement fees:
after suspension for non-payment of fees:
Member $300.00; Firm $300.00
after suspension or expulsion under Section 37 of the Act:
Member $550.00; Firm $600.00
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